### CHAPTER 1 Name and Affiliation

**Section 1**. This Corporation, an association of family physicians, shall be known as the Illinois Academy of Family Physicians.

**Section 2**. Unless otherwise specified, the use of the term Academy and Board of Directors shall refer to this corporation and its Board.

**Section 3**. This organization is a constituent chapter of the American Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP) and is a non-for-profit corporation existing under the laws of Illinois. No rules, regulations, or policies adopted by this organization shall be in conflict with the rules, regulations, or policies of the AAFP. Membership in the Illinois Academy shall be a prerequisite to membership in the national Academy, but the qualifications for membership are established by the national Academy.

## CHAPTER 2 Object and Purposes

**Section 1**. The mission of the Illinois Academy of Family Physicians is to promote excellence in health care and the betterment of the health of the American people. Purposes in support of this mission are:

To provide responsible advocacy for and education of patients in all health-related matters; To preserve and promote quality cost-effective health care;

To promote the science and art of family medicine and to ensure an optimal supply of well-trained family physicians;

To promote and maintain high standards among physicians who practice family medicine;

To preserve the right of family physicians to engage in medical and surgical procedures for which they are qualified by training and experience;

To provide advocacy, representation and leadership for the specialty of family medicine;

To maintain and provide an organization with high standards to fulfill the above purposes and to represent the needs of its members.

**Section 2**. This organization shall have no capital stock. It is not conducted for pecuniary profit and does not contemplate pecuniary gain or profit to the members thereof.

**Section 3**. To accomplish the foregoing aims, ideals and objectives, this Academy shall have power to acquire, own, and convey real and personal property; to carry on research; to grant degrees in recognition of achievement in the science and practice of medicine and surgery; to issue publications; to establish, conduct and maintain educational activities for graduate study in family medicine; and to use any and all ethical means for the attainment of its objectives, which from time to time appear desirable.

### CHAPTER 3 Classes of Membership and Election

**Section 1.** The qualifications, conditions and classes of membership shall be the same as those of the AAFP. Acceptance of membership shall constitute an agreement to comply with the Bylaws, rules and regulations of this organization and those of the AAFP. All rights, title and interest, both legal and equitable, of a member in and to the property of this organization, shall cease and terminate in the event of any of the following: (a) the expulsion of such member; (b) the striking of his\her name from the roll of members; (c) resignation or death.

**Section 2**. IAFP adheres to current AAFP bylaws provisions describing the definition of membership, membership classifications, definition of good standing, changes of membership status, and acceptance of membership.

**Section 3**. For membership classifications there are additional privileges that IAFP confers: Inactive members shall not be entitled to vote or hold office. Life members shall be entitled to vote but shall not be eligible to hold office. Honorary membership in the AAFP may be proposed by IAFP. Resident members shall be entitled to vote but may not be officers in the IAFP. Student members may not be officers of the IAFP. Transitional members may not be officers of the IAFP.

## CHAPTER 4 Fellowship

**Section 1**. IAFP adheres to the current AAFP bylaws for definition, classification, eligibility, application and requirements for the degree of fellow.

### CHAPTER 5 Ethics

**Section 1**. Definition. The Principles of Medical Ethics of the American Medical Association, as they now or hereafter may provide, shall be the principles of ethics of the AAFP. The Congress of Delegates by a two-thirds (2/3) vote may adopt additional policies or positions relating to ethical issues even though such policies or positions may be contrary to the Principles of Medical Ethics of the American Medical Association.

**Section 2**. Charges. If a member in good faith is believed to: A. have violated these Medical Ethics or these Bylaws; or B. be guilty of conduct justifying censure, suspension, or expulsion from the organization, any member may file charges against him or her. Charges shall be handled as follows; however, the provisions of applicable law supersede these procedures:

- 1. All those against whom charges have been filed shall have the right to be represented by counsel at the initial hearing and upon appeal to the Board.
- 2. Charges must be in writing and signed by the accuser or accusers.
- 3. Charges must state the acts or conduct complained of with reasonable particularity.
- 4. Charges must be filed with the president of the constituent chapter to which the accused member belongs, if any; otherwise with the executive vice president/chief executive officer of the AAFP.
- 5. At the first meeting of the Board of directors of the constituent chapter or of the Board, as the case may be, held after the filing of the charges, the charges must be presented to the Board.
- 6. The Board shall then or at any adjournment of said meeting, but not more than thirty (30) days thereafter, consider the charges and shall either dismiss them or shall proceed as follows:
  - within fifteen (15) days serve a copy of the charges upon the accused by depositing in the United States mail a copy, registered and addressed to the last known address of the accused;
  - 2. fix a time and place for hearing said charges;
  - 3. the accused shall be notified of the time and place at the same time and in the same manner as provided for the serving of the charges;
  - 4. the time set for the hearing shall be not less than fifteen (15) days nor more than six (6) months after the charges have been served.
- 7. The accused may answer in writing but need not do so and failure to answer shall not be an admission of guilt or a waiver of the accused's right to a hearing.

#### 8. The Board shall:

- after having given to the accuser and the accused every opportunity to be heard, including oral arguments and the filing and consideration of any written briefs, conclude the hearing; and
- 2. within thirty (30) days shall render a decision.
- 9. The affirmative vote of a majority of the members of the Board present and voting shall constitute the verdict of the Board which by such vote may exonerate, censure, suspend, or expel the accused member
- 10. The Board's decision shall be expressed in a resolution which shall contain no opinion and shall be signed by the Board chair and its secretary.
- 11. No member of the Board absent for any portion of the hearing shall be entitled to vote.

**Section 3**. Censure. No member shall be suspended for more than one year and at the expiration of the period of suspension shall be reinstated to membership upon application and the payment of dues accrued during the period of suspension. Any member of a constituent chapter who has been censured, suspended, or expelled may:

- 1. Appeal such action within six (6) months after notification is given to the Board, with jurisdiction of the Board extending only to matters of procedure and law and not of fact.
- 2. The Board shall:
  - 1. determine a time and place for the hearing of the appeal; and
  - 2. by a majority vote either sustain or reverse such censure, suspension or expulsion after giving the accused and representatives of the chapter from whose decision he or she appeals reasonable opportunity to be heard.
- 3. The decision of the Board is final.

#### CHAPTER 6 Dues and Assessments

**Section 1**. Dues for Active members of this Academy shall be determined by the Board of Directors. Any increase shall not exceed ten percent (10%) annually.

**Section 2**. Dues for Supporting, Resident, Student, and Transitional members shall be determined annually by the Board of Directors using a formula similar to that prescribed in Section 1.

**Section 3**. Dues for Inactive and Life members shall be established annually for the term of such membership except that in the case of Life members, a one-time payment may be made in an amount as determined by the Board of Directors.

**Section 4.** Under unusual circumstances of extreme hardship, dues may be waived upon recommendation of this Academy, and with the approval of the AAFP Board of Directors.

## **CHAPTER 7** Meetings

**Section 1**. There shall be an annual business meeting of the Academy. The time and place of the Annual Meeting, in or outside the State of Illinois or a virtual meeting, shall be designated by the Board of Directors, and announced at least sixty (60) days before the date so fixed.

Section 2. Notice of general or special meetings shall be given to all members at least thirty (30) days prior to the date of such meeting, either by letter mailed to the member's address as it appears on the official file, or by inclusion in an official communication of the Academy.

**Section 3**. Special meetings may be called by the Board of Directors, or by the President. Special meetings shall be called by the Chief Executive Officer upon the written request of any ten (10) or more members, at a place and time determined by the Board of Directors.

**Section 4**. One percent (1%) of the total number of active members shall constitute a quorum at any regular or special all-member meeting.

#### **CHAPTER 8** Board of Directors

**Section 1.** The control and administration of the Academy shall be vested in a Board of Directors, composed of the Executive Committee (Chapter 11, Section 2), and nine (9) elected Director members, two new physician members, a resident member and a student member. The delegates and alternate delegates, and observer to the AAFP shall sit as ex-officio members of the Board and shall not have a vote. A designated resident member shall be invited to attend Board meetings with the right to vote. A designated student member of the Academy shall be invited to attend Board meetings with the right to vote. Two new physician members, defined as any physician who is within his/her first seven years of practice following completion of a family medicine residency, shall be elected to the Board with the right to vote.

**Section 2**. The term of the office of Directors shall be for three (3) years, and shall begin at the conclusion of the Annual Meeting at which their election occurs, and expire at the conclusion of the third succeeding Annual Meeting, or when their successors are elected. A Director may not be renominated for that office unless one (1) year has elapsed from the conclusion of his/her previous term. Any Director who absents him- or herself from two (2) consecutive meetings of the Board of Directors, without a reasonable excuse acceptable to the Board, shall be considered as having resigned from the Board. The two new physician board members shall serve two years each with their terms staggered; one new physician board member would be elected each year and serve for two years. Resident and student board members serve for one year each.

**Section 3**. Vacancies on the Board of Directors shall be filled by majority vote of the remaining members of the Board for the unexpired term of any vacancy occurring. Directors who have been appointed to the Board to fill an unexpired term, and who have served for a period of less than one (1) year, shall be eligible for re-nomination to the Board, notwithstanding the provisions to the contrary in Section 2 of Chapter 9. In the event of the resignation, death, or incapacity of the AAFP Delegate or Alternate Delegate to serve, the Board of Directors shall elect an Alternate Delegate for the unexpired portion of the term.

#### **CHAPTER 9** Elections

**Section 1**. At least one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the Annual Meeting, it shall be the duty of the President to appoint a Leadership Development Committee consisting of seven (7) Active members, selected to represent all geographical sections. At least sixty (60) days prior to the Annual Meeting, the Committee shall present to the active membership through and by an electronic/paper voting process, nominations for president-elect, AAFP Delegate and Alternate Delegate. The positions of First Vice President and Second Vice President, each of three (3) vacancies occurring on the Board of Directors, and one (1) new physician vacancy each year are open for contested elections.

**Section 2**. Election of the above referenced board members, AAFP delegates, AAFP alternate delegates and officers shall occur by vote by active and life members through and by an electronic/paper voting process with the nominee receiving the majority of votes being declared elected.

**Section 3**. All elected board members and officers shall take office at the conclusion of the Annual Meeting at which their elections occur, and their terms shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual Meeting, or when successors are elected. Any officer who absents him- or herself from two (2) consecutive meetings of the Board of Directors/Executive Committee, without a reasonable excuse acceptable to the Board, shall be considered as having resigned from the Board.

**Section 4**. The Treasurer shall be selected for each year by the Board of Directors. He/she shall be an Active member, and preferably shall have been a member of the Finance Committee prior to this selection.

# **CHAPTER 10 Duties and Terms of Officers**

**Section 1**. The officers of the Academy shall be a President, President-elect, Chair of the Board/Immediate Past-President, Treasurer, First Vice President, Second Vice President, and Secretary/Chief Executive Officer.

**Section 2**. The President's term of office shall begin at the conclusion of the Annual Meeting one (1) year after his/her election as President-elect and shall expire at the conclusion of the following Annual Meeting. In the event of resignation or death, or inability of the President to serve during the term of office, the President-elect shall succeed to the office of the President for the unexpired portion of the President's term. In the event of the resignation, death, or incapacity of both the President and President-elect to serve, the Board of Directors shall elect a President for the unexpired portion of the term. The President shall appoint all committees with the advice and concurrence of the Board of Directors, so that each committee reports to the Board; be the official spokesperson; and assume such other duties that are normally identified with this office.

**Section 3**. The President-elect shall succeed to the office of President at the expiration of the President's term as provided in Section 1 and shall represent the President in his/her absence.

**Section 4**. The First Vice President shall preside over the annual business meeting. In the event the First Vice President is unable to attend to the duties of this office, the Second Vice President shall preside over annual business meetings.

**Section 5**. The immediate past president shall serve as the chair of the Board. If the outgoing president is unavailable to serve as the incoming chair of the Board, the Board shall elect from its own number a chair for the next year at its last meeting before the directors' terms expire. The Chair of the Board/Immediate Past President shall preside over all meetings of the Board and its Executive Committee.

**Section 6**. The Treasurer shall keep adequate and proper accounts of the properties and funds of the Academy; shall deposit all monies and other valuables in the name and to the credit of the Academy;

shall disburse funds of the Academy as may be ordered by the Board of Directors; shall render to the Board of Directors, upon request, an account of all transactions as Treasurer, and of the financial condition of the Academy; shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors of these Bylaws. The Treasurer shall be bonded in an amount to be determined by the Board of Directors, the premium thereon to be paid by the Academy. Any of the duties of the Treasurer may, by action of the Board of Directors, be assigned to the Chief Executive Officer.

**Section 7**. The Chief Executive Officer shall be appointed for a term and stipend to be fixed by the Board of Directors, perform such duties as the title of the office ordinarily connotes, and such duties of the Treasurer as may be assigned by the Board of Directors. He/she shall keep an accurate record of the annual business meeting and the Board of Directors; shall serve as Secretary of these bodies; shall supervise all other employees and agents of the Academy, and shall have such other powers and duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or these Bylaws. The Chief Executive Officer shall be bonded in an amount fixed by the Board of Directors, premium thereon to be paid by the Academy.

#### **CHAPTER 11** Committees

**Section 1**. The Board of Directors shall establish and authorize by Board action such committees as it deems appropriate to conduct the business affairs of the Academy.

**Section 2**. The Executive Committee shall consist of the, Chair of the Board/Immediate Past President, President, President, President, President, Second Vice President and Treasurer. The Committee shall make such decisions and conduct such business between meetings of the Board of Directors as may be required in the best interest of the Academy.

**Section 3**. The Finance Committee shall be appointed by the President with the advice and concurrence of the Board of Directors

and shall be composed of the Treasurer as Chair, and three (3) members of the Board of Directors with representation from each elective period. The Committee shall supervise the keeping of the Academy's accounts; submit an annual budget for approval of the Board of Directors; arrange an audit of the books annually by an approved public accountant; and send to the annual business meeting a balance sheet, and statement of income and expense for such fiscal year.

**Section 4.** It shall be the prerogative of the President, with the concurrence of the Board of Directors, to create committees when it is felt that there should be a continuation of effort in a given field.

Committees are created for one (1) year only. The membership of all committees shall consist of at least three (3) members appointed for one (1) year.

**Section 5**. Interest groups may be formed if ten (10) or more members signify their desire, in writing, to the board of directors. The formulation of an interest group will be subject to the approval of the board. The board may adopt administrative rules for the operation of interest groups.

### CHAPTER 12 Miscellaneous

**Section 1**. The record of the annual business meeting and minutes of the Board of Directors' meetings, the membership records, and books of accounts shall be open to inspection upon written request of any member, at any reasonable time, for any purpose reasonably related to the member's interest. Such inspection may be made by agent or attorney and shall include the right to make extracts thereof. Request for inspection shall be made in writing to the Academy.

**Section 2.** American Institute of Parliamentarians Standard Code of Parliamentary Procedure, Current Edition, except when in conflict with the Bylaws of the Academy, shall control all parliamentary proceedings of all meetings of the Academy.

# CHAPTER 13 Amendments to Bylaws

**Section 1**. Any five (5) or more members may propose Bylaws or amendments to these Bylaws. Such proposals shall be submitted to the Chief Executive Officer at least one hundred (100) days prior to any regular or special meeting of the members, and notice shall be given to all members at least thirty (30) days prior to the meeting at which the proposals are to be voted upon. Affirmative vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the members present and voting shall constitute adoption. Amendments shall take effect immediately upon adoption unless otherwise specified.

**Section 2.** Amendments to the Bylaws shall be submitted in writing to the American Academy of Family Physicians not later than 30 days following adoption. Those amendments relating solely to the internal structure and organization, which do not address issues specifically addressed in the Bylaws of the American Academy of Family Physicians, may be implemented immediately upon adoption but shall be subject to review by the AAFP board of directors. Amendments other than those addressed in the preceding sentence shall not be of any force or effect until they have been approved by the AAFP board of directors; provided however, that if the AAFP board fails to provide written objection within 90 days of receiving such amendment, it may be considered approved.

## **Administrative Rules to Bylaws**

#### Chapter 1. Dues

Dues for Active members of AAFP shall be determined by AAFP Board of Directors and shall be retained by the AAFP for payment of members' annual dues to that corporation. The balance of the above total sum will be remitted by AAFP to the IAFP.

#### **Chapter 2. Interest Groups**

Interest groups may be formed based on geographic region, hospital affiliation, and/or special interests. The bylaws, rules, and /or regulations of such groups shall be subject to the approval of the Board of Directors and shall be consistent with the Bylaws of the Academy and AAFP. Interest groups may be formed if ten (10) or more members signify their desire, in writing, to the Board of Directors. The formation of an Interest Group will be subject to the approval of the Board.

Members shall be assigned to the Interest Group in accordance with their desires and may transfer to another Interest Group upon written request.

Interest groups having fewer than ten (10) members or having no reported activity for a one-year period may be dissolved. Those wishing to consolidate with another Interest Group shall require the prior approval of the Board of Directors.

Each Interest Group must annually identify a chair and vice chair. A representative from each Interest Group shall submit the names of the officers to the Executive Vice President.

No person may hold membership in an Interest Group unless such person is a member of the Academy.

## **Chapter 8 and 9 AAFP Congress Observer**

The AAFP Congress Observer position is designed for developing leaders to gain exposure to AAFP Congress of Delegates while also participating in IAFP board meetings. The position is a one-year term with a two-term limit.